U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
Office of Research and Development (ORD)
Quarterly Meeting of the
National Research Advisory Council (NRAC)
June 4, 2025

Minutes

Committee Members Present
Dr. Rajeev Ramchand, Chair
Dr. Magali Haas

Dr. Dallas Hack

Dr. Fatima T. Husain

Dr. Kent E. Kester

Dr. J. Dru Riddle

Dr. Alicia Rossiter

Dr. Jack Tsai

Dr. Julie Tomaska

Dr. Thomas Zampieri

Dr. Caroline Zink

Committee Members Excused
Dr. Melina Kibbe

Speakers/Presenters

Dr. Rajeev Ramchand,

Chair Dr. Carolyn Clancy

Dr. LaTonya L. Small

Ms. Carol Borden

Ms. Amanda Garcia, Designated Federal Officer
(DFO) Mr. Marc Wynne

Mr. Antonio Laracuente

Dr. Gerhard Schulteis

VA ORD Staff Present
Ms. Amanda Garcia, DFO
Dr. Allison Williams, Alternate DFO
Mr. Ashanti Berrien

Ms. Tanya Byfield

Ms. Liza Catucci

Dr. Carolyn Clancy

Ms. Kimberly Collins

Dr. Kristina Cordasco

Mr. Bruce Friedland

Dr. Stuart Hoffman

Dr. Grant D. Huang

Page 1 of 15



Dr. Rudolph Johnson

Ms. Sarah Abdella-el Kallassy
Dr. Amy M. Kilbourne
Ms. Camille Kirkland-King
Dr. Holly Krull

Mr. Antonio Laracuente
Dr. Sumitra Muralidhar
Mr. M. Patrick C. Phillips
Dr. Ronald Przygodzki
Ms. Carol Roberts

Dr. Gerhard Schulteis

Dr. Cassandra Tansey
Dr. Wendy Tenhula

Mr. Matthew Verna

Dr. Jon White

Mr. Marc Wynne

L _Introduction to NRAC

Call to Order and Introductions

Amanda Garcia, a Designated Federal Officer (DFO), confirmed a quorum and
called the meeting to order at 11:02 a.m. Eastern Standard Time.

Welcome/Opening Remarks

Chair Ramchand thanked those in the Office of Research and Development (ORD)
who took part in putting together the meeting agenda. He noted that the third
designated federal officer was no longer with the Department of Veteran Affairs (VA)
and was appreciative of their service. Ms. Garcia played an introductory video from the
Secretary of VA. Chair Ramchand summarized what the meeting agenda contained.
He introduced Dr. Carolyn Clancy, Assistant Under Secretary for Health (AUSH).

Dr. Clancy highlighted the importance of the National Research Advisory Council's
(NRAC) role in researching Veteran health. She noted the changes the Office of
Research and Development (ORD) would be making upon their 100th anniversary,
focusing on leveraging big data, VA's health information, and applied practices. Dr.
Clancy announced that the goal for establishing the Air Force Health Study / Warren
Collection subcommittee in 2024 was to incorporate legacy data from Vietham-Era
Veterans into the VA Science and Health Initiative to Combat Infectious and
Emerging Life-Threatening Diseases (VA SHIELD). Dr. Clancy explained that this
newer focus on Veterans research was the highest priority of the new VA Secretary,
Doug Collins. She said that they have complied with the new administration's
required changes with a resulting positive trajectory moving forward. She then
explained the effect Directive 1200.9 will have on how researchers publish their work.

Robert A. Bonomo, meeting attendee, asked for clarification about the submission

process and publication of researchers’ articles to journals. He noted the use of
PubTracker and PubMed, the current mechanisms being used by researchers to

Page 2 of 15



keep track of submitted papers, and asked whether they should continue to be used.
Dr. Clancy addressed these concerns and reassured that the Directive is for

courtesy information, not review or for censorship. She said continued use of current
mechanisms was allowed, praising PubTracker's usefulness. Dr. Clancy thanked
Rashi Romanoff and the National Association of Veteran's Research and Education
Foundations (NAVREF) for their support of Research Week. She noted having visited
VA facilities in Philadelphia and Richmond, highlighting their different research
priorities.

II. Annual Trainings
Ms. Garcia played a video containing a message from Secretary Collins for the
Council.

Office of General Counsel Ethics Training

Carol Borden, Office of General Counsel, introduced herself as an ethics official at
the VA and explained the importance of annual ethics training for special
government employees. She said her presentation would touch on statute 18 U.S.C.
§ 208: Conflict of Interest, and that if there were any questions, to direct them to her
or her colleague April Garrett. She explained that there are different categories of
special government employees, namely regular government employees,
representatives who have their own determined level of ethics that apply, including
regulations set forth by the Hatch Act which restricts political activities during
government time. She emphasized that the NRAC members can serve no more than
130 days annually. She highlighted the importance of seeking ethics advice to avoid
any criminal prosecution, emphasizing that the VA does not have jurisdiction over
what the Department of Justice (DOJ) does.

Ms. Borden began with the special government employee category, which applies to
the Council members that are also VA employees. She defined the difference for the
Council between serving with or without compensation, and said that ethics rules
applied to both categories of employee. Ms. Borden said maintaining discretion over
confidential information with the employee's associated federal agency was
expected. She explained the exemptions made by the Secretary, as well as what
does and does not apply to the Council. She gave a summary of the effects of
statutes 201 through 209, which had to do with financial disclosures, personal
relationships, the concept of particular matters, and the direct and predictable impact
of financial interests. Other points mentioned were prohibited compensation under
18 U.S.C. § 209, bribery under 18 U.S.C. § 201, and conflicts of interest under 18
U.S.C. §205. The rules that extended to executive employees were also laid out,
relating to the Hatch Act, which governs political activity. She emphasized that direct
and predictable links between actions and financial interests, exceptions for generally
applicable matters, and the importance of disclosing stock holdings that exceeded a
certain range were key points to be considered by the employee. Ms. Borden
provided specific examples of each, emphasizing that the effect an employee's
decision has on the affiliated agency group be considered. She said that there was
the potential for exceptions to 208 in which a waiver can be submitted to the Office of

Page 3 of 15



Government Ethics (OGE) for review.
She explained that the review process is currently being streamlined to maintain a
steady flow of research.

Ms. Borden addressed the topic of an employee publicly representing the
government on specific matters post-employment and the prohibition on serving as
an expert witness for parties opposing the government. Key principles highlighted
include avoiding private gain and unauthorized preferential treatment, the use of non-
public information, government property, and official titles to an individual or party's
personal interest or benefit. She explained the restrictions about gift regulations for
public sources, touching again on the Hatch Act. Ms. Borden closed her presentation
by saying that she will need a list of members who completed the training.

Federal Advisory Committee Act 101

Dr. LaTonya Small, Advisory Committee Management Officer (ACMO), expressed
her appreciation for NRAC to the council members, and explained Federal Advisory
Committee Act's (FACA) purpose. She summarized that FACA governs the
establishment, termination, and management of advisory committees that advise the
executive branch of the federal government, promoting transparency and
accountability of faculty. She shared why FACA is necessary and explained how it is
applied. Dr. Small then spoke about how FACA helps promote transparency and
accountability in federal agencies, bringing up different aspects of ethics training. Dr.
Small explained that since the NRAC functions as a discretionary committee, it has
best practices it must meet. One such requirement is a charter, which is renewed bi-
annually. Other requirements include having a DFO, a quorum requirement, agendas
published for public meetings, and publicly available records management. The
General Services Administration (GSA) maintains the oversight of federal agencies
to make sure they follow these terms, and audit when it is deemed necessary. Dr.
Small went on to explain the nature of NRAC's meetings, as they can be open,
closed, or partially closed. She explained what constitutes these types of meetings,
and that a DFO or alternate must be present no matter what. She shared the
acronym SMART for following best practices during meetings: Specific, Measurable,
Action-oriented, Relevant, and Time-based.

Chair Ramchand commended Dr. Small for her presentation, and said that it was
exciting to see that NRAC is committing to these best practices, ensuring that they will
continue to do so.

BREAK

III. Debrief from March 5, 2025 Meeting

Chair Ramchand said that those in the NRAC were given a survey to complete
after the last meeting when the annual report was given. He announced that he
and Ms. Garcia would be summarizing the takeaways from the last meeting.

Page 4 of 15



Themes from Evaluation Survey

Ms. Garcia explained that she would be summarizing generalized feedback and
common themes that were pulled from the annual report survey. She said that all
NRAC members believed the rating portfolio balance and program management
were fully met. Some themes were increasing cross-disciplinary projects, enhancing
health services research such as an expanded portfolio on community care options,
better integration with partners, boosting translational research, funding, and
improving investigator recruitment and retention. Ms. Garcia summarized the
suggestions that were made in the survey responses as a follow up on these
themes. Chair Ramchand noted that the survey provided rich information for ORD to
consider, and opened the floor to other members to speak.

Member Dr. Fatima T. Husain highlighted funding as a need, which is directly
affected by the new administration's federal funding cuts. She acknowledged that
although this was out of their control, the pursuit of research should be a priority as it
is essential to what the VA does. Chair Ramchand underscored the importance of
accessibility of health services delivery in community care programs.

Dr. Grant D. Huang, Acting Chief Research and Development Officer (CRADO),
thanked Chair Ramchand, and spoke about getting more feedback to address these
themes. He noted his confidence in their ability to move forward with finding solutions.

Debrief from Strateqy Session: Opportunities to Enhance the Impact of VA
Research for Veterans

Chair Ramchand touched on topics of focus that would help demonstrate the value of
VA research publicly. He brought up communicating the research to the public and
recommended that videos and infographics should be utilized based on past success
using those methods. He noted that an element of storytelling would better reach lay
audiences. Chair Ramchand next brought up the importance of funding, nodding to
Member Husain's previous comments, stating that the funding for research is
necessary for these initiatives and the potential for ambassador programs that could
advocate for Veterans. He proposed that sharing data with patients and providers
could enhance research impact, as the engagement of Veteran stakeholders and
leveraging public interest about research could improve support for VA Research.
Chair Ramchand tied the 100 years of research and the Million Veteran Program into
these influenced topics, and opened the floor for comments.

Member Dr. J. Dru Riddle echoed Chair Ramchand's points on data sharing. He
said that he knows there are lawful and ethical reasons on why data cannot be
shared, and brought up the topic of duplicative research. He said curating collected
data could help avoid the burden of recollecting, and inform future research
questions.

Dr. Huang emphasized that the value of research is important for current work and

future work. He asked the committee whether or not they’ve seen any existing
research outside of the VA that could help support current and future work, and

Page 5 of 15



posed the question of how they could go about the collection and consideration of
potential resources, looking for examples from those present. Chair Ramchand
suggested looking at an online VA forum that consists of research summaries,
though he is unsure of whether it was created by ORD or VA health services
researchers. He said that although they're helpful, the language is technical, and
suggested again the use of infographics and visual methods as a way of distilling
research data for public audiences. Dr. Huang brought up that he believes that a
group within the VA, CIDER (Center for Information Dissemination and Education
Resources), may already be doing this, but that it will be looked into. He recognized
those who are part of the health system research efforts.

Member Dr. Jack Tsai suggested that they have a panel of Veterans outside of
established VA system to contribute. He said that this could be a resource that allows
access to more pools of Veterans with the chance to expand the VA researcher's
portfolio. Chair Ramchand responded that Ipsos (private company) has created such
a panel, though it has not been utilized by VA yet. He mentioned that other panel
vendors, Social Science Research Institute (SSRI) at the University of Newark and
NORC of the University of Chicago, are in the process of doing something similar. He
said that looking into the validity of those as a tool is worth looking into.

Dr. Huang responded that this is already being done by other team members. He
touched back on the topic of avoiding redundancy with data collecting from such
panels, and echoed the suggestion to look into other resources with existing data as
a solution. He asked whether or not this was a niche topic that should be addressed
separately from general data collection. Chair Ramchand reiterated that he believes
the VA is open to this idea. He expressed that there is an interest in learning about
community engagement, which could be expanded upon in a future meeting.

Chair Ramchand asked how the NRAC can effectively engage general communities
and Veteran communities in the VA's research design implementation and
dissemination. Member Dr. Magali Haas considered past discussions about raising
awareness for VA Research, and wondered if the VA has any support set up for
Veteran related nonprofit organizations, as such resources could be used to
enhance communication. Dr. Huang commented that there may be an opportunity to
utilize the different groups in the VA in that way. He suggested they ask ORD to
surface any internal partnerships they have to see if those connections can be
utilized.

Chair Ramchand said that the Veteran Experience Office is a reliable source of
engaging the U.S. Veterans Services Organizations (VSOs) community and the
Veteran community, describing their outreach, and highlighting the possibility of
exploring ORD's potential partnerships. Dr. Huang asked if there are any existing
strategies of how NRAC thinks about research in the context of planning for a new
study or larger initiative. Member Dr. Julie Tomaska expressed that finding and vetting
trusted communities to partner with would contribute positively to the buildup of
communication and impact engagement.

Page 6 of 15



BREAK

IV. Agenda Setting & Objective Planning

Chair Ramchand moved on to setting the agenda and objective planning for NRAC. He
said that NRAC needs to discuss recommendations for the Secretary, and reflected
that the past three meetings have a host of information to rely on for doing so.

Consider Public Comments at Previous Meetings

Chair Ramchand expressed reviewing public comments as an opportunity to
consider which issues to elevate to the Secretary's attention. Some issues include
aviator cancers, psychedelic- assisted therapy for mental health, hiring researchers
and research staff, 18 U.S.C. § 208 which has previously been brought to the
Secretary's attention, and congressional legislation of VA- funded research involving
animals. Other discussions include communication and funding, which were touched
on earlier in the meeting.

Member Dr. Thomas Zampieri raised concern about the impact of increased
community care on research access for Veterans, particularly regarding
ophthalmology. He expressed his concern for Veterans being sent to community care
because of congressional pressure and other reasons. The recommendations made
by NRAC to the Secretary will be crucial in making sure the Veterans are not left out
or left behind. He said he fears that with the increase in community care in the past
five years, as time passes, research efforts will become more fragmented.

Recommendations Received from Subcommittees

Chair Ramchand said that at the last committee meeting, a subcommittee for health
services research was voted on, and expressed that he would be interested to hear
from Dr. Amy Kilbourne about its status.

Dr. Kilbourne explained her role regarding the subcommittee and confirmed that it
was approved by ACMO to be held. She said that the priority for the conversation
regarding the subcommittee should be figuring out its scope and what it will focus on.
She explained that the original idea was to focus on developing a research agenda in
health systems and the areas that balance VA and community care and to bring in
outside expertise to help the subcommittee think through nuances about how the VA
is evolving to not just a single payer provider, but now as a health system and also a
payer, and what are the ramifications of having this type of care split between VA
and community care and how health services research can help inform care
coordination between VA and community (purchased) care and value-based care
models. She announced that the committee should consider members with expertise
in healthcare payer data analysis, with an example being the Medicare Payment
Advisory Commission. Chair Ramchand suggested to Member Dr. Zampieri that he
could serve on the subcommittee based on its scope and description.

Member Dr. Zampieri offered that more collaborative research be suggested to the
Secretary, stating that although it wouldn't be easy, it would be beneficial in the long

Page 7 of 15



term. Chair Ramchand agreed and brought up the Department of Defense (DOD)
and VA research connection, pointing out that the DOD's system of research is not
as greatly exposed to data as VA's research system, which is a challenge. Some of
the challenges include aligning DOD and VA research on toxic exposures and mental
health outcomes.

Dr. Kilbourne pointed out that the Secretary's strategic priorities include Veteran well-
being, mental health, and economic security. She posed what bilateral research might
look like between VA and DOD and asked what the opportunities would be for
enabling non-VA primary care Veterans who get to participate in VA research. She
said that an alignment with the trends of all around access to care, housing, and
economic security with VA research priorities is beneficial.

Member Dr. Kent E. Kester explained that, based on his experience when he sat on
the existing DOD-VA research group, it was hard to operationalize bilateral research.
He suggested that there is a potential benefit to the DOD-VA Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) in understanding and addressing legal and regulatory hurdles,
which could lead to meaningful progress for both systems of research. He expressed
that the MOU could become a powerful tool for innovation and advancing research.

Member Dr. Riddle asked about the mechanisms for Veterans outside the VA to
participate in clinical care. Dr. Huang replied that Veterans lose VA Research
oversight when they're referred to community care, as the VA no longer has purview
due to IRB. The outside provider often lacks federal research resources and
structures. Member Dr. Riddle suggested the need for decentralized oversight to
ensure that Veterans outside the VA can participate in VA research. Member Dr.
Husain asked if there was a possibility for joint DOD-VA requests for proposals or
grant funding, which Dr. Huang confirmed has been successful in the past.

Member Dr. Husain asked for a follow-up on data sharing and the reuse of collected
data within VA research programs. She said that she saw many funding proposals
when she was a reviewer for the VA intramural programs. She noted she has not
seen the DOD's data collection, but that it is extensive. Dr. Huang proposed a broad
partnership approach with potential complexity and specific partnerships with focused
goals. He then cited the Brain Cancer Center and National Cancer Institute (NCI)
partnership as an example.

Member Dr. Haas said that there were major funding cuts made in fiscal year 2025
for traumatic brain injury (TBI) and mental health research. She imagined that this
would create a large gap in portfolio programs that the VA would rather be advancing
in for future generations. She wondered if this is an opportunity to see what gaps will
be created and suggested a joint roadmap, and to address defunded NIH databases.
The group emphasized the importance of focused portfolios and leveraging
partnerships to accelerate outcomes. She asked if there had been an audit in the
domain that might affect Veterans. Dr. Huang said there had not been an audit of
that nature thus far and suggested that the VA become more familiar with how they
look at their portfolios. He said that there had to be balance between leveraging

Page 8 of 15



partnerships and investments. He noted there was only so much time they had
together as a group to discuss all the specific areas of concern, and that it was
difficult to pick and choose what to discuss in the allotted time.

Chair Ramchand asked if there are any other actions that needed to be considered
at this point in time regarding any of the aforementioned groups. Member Dr.
Caroline Zink pointed out the need for robust research teams as VA Research is
critically dependent on them, regardless of collaboration with other entities and
despite the exemptions for the VA in the hiring freeze. She said that the exempted
roles are negatively impacted because they are not being compensated properly.

Member Dr. Zink raised concerns of hiring issues due to current hiring freezes,
saying that the VA's inability to hire new research teams is detrimental to VA
Research's progress. She acknowledged that, while the exemptions offer a path
forward, their inability to hire limits the potential for partnerships and other entities
may not look favorably on this prospect. Dr. Huang replied that the Secretary and
other leaders have been helping them make progress with the exemptions, which
has accomplished some degree of moving forward. He commented on the size of the
VA and how there are programs that have more people than can be accommodated,
and added that they should consider which programs should take priority to turn their
attention to. Member Dr. Zink thanked him, stating that it would be a good strategy to
start prioritizing programs based on research areas that are critical to the VA's
mission. Dr. Huang added that they should extend that consideration to potential
partnerships as well. Chair Ramchand agreed with both of their points, summarizing
allocating funds that are proportionate to the VA's needs.

Member Dr. Zink emphasized the importance of leveraging small research programs
within a health system to access data across different sources for more efficient
research into topics such as epidemiology and mechanism research. She touched
back on using existing data to inform interventions and duplicating research efforts.
She used the Quality Enhancement Research Initiative's (QUERI) funding for TBI
research as an example of this. She summarized that the goal would be to use
available resources to address many research questions simultaneously within a
learning health system framework.

Chair Ramchand said he thinks there's an opportunity to utilize the DOD-VA
collaboration to their benefit. He said that he will look at the MOU again with the
meetings discussion in mind and see if the MOU will strengthen their partnership. He
said that he will share what he notes with the council.

Dr. Kilbourne responded to Dr. Huang's comment on partnerships, describing some
programs including the ORD QUERI program that she believes would be beneficial
towards informing partnerships in clinical care and research. She wondered
whether there are any educational or future research opportunities with external
partners. Dr. Huang replied that he is not aware of any educational sessions or
Veterans Service Organization (VSOs) as of now, but that this could be looked into

Page 9 of 15



doing going forward.

Chair Ramchand commented that they are not currently making a recommendation
on the point of the DOD-VA collaboration. He suggested that at the next meeting,
they could vote on whether there is a gap that needs to be addressed in the MOU.

V. 18 U.S.C § 208: Conflict of Interest
Chair Ramchand told the council members that if there's any topic they wish to have
on next meeting's agenda, they should contact Ms. Garcia or himself.

Current Status

Mr. Marc Wynne, ORD, summarized a 100th anniversary commemoration display
that would be put in medical and ambulatory centers which included a six-panel
exhibit and a digital publication. He explained that Section 208 impacted 90% of VA
researchers. A legislative fix and an automated waiver process proposed by both
OGC and ORD were in the works. He summarized the background of the legislative
fix for a technological solution for the waiver process. New interpretations of matters
under the regulation were brought up, which led to the need for reviewed legislation.
He said that this will impact thousands of awards and grants for VA researchers. He
gave some background on the legislation regarding the past and present
administrations and how they've dealt with it, highlighting that there were issues
regarding the deadline and the legislation being pulled as a result. The challenges
being faced for the proposal are a non-concurrence letter from OGE and a pass-
back from OMB, leading to a withdrawal of the proposal from legislation. He said that
the waiver process, which required 3,000-5,000 waivers annually, was considered an
administrative burden. Some fixes would also need to be applied to Sections 203,
205, and 209 in the future. Some potential propriety concerns were brought up with
the suggestion of the waivers being publicly disclosed. He noted the loss of some
expert staff members at ORD. He concluded that there is a potential for VA
realignment and that it would be addressed as the information became available.

Dr. Gerhard Schulteis, ORD, discussed the implementation of the new online tool
that will be used to streamline the waiver process for the VA, namely the dual
appointment relationship waivers. He said they worked to minimize the amount of
proprietary information that would go into the waiver. The goal is to create a tool that
will lead the user through a sequence of questions which computes an outcome to
help dictate what they should do in their particular situation. Another goal is to
minimize burden on its users. The online tool asks the user questions about the
potential conflict of interest, narrowing down the outcome to provide the best possible
answer. There are currently about 160 possible outcomes according to the answer
combinations. Some additional consideration is provided in regard to other Conflict of
Interest codes such as 209. Dr. Schulteis then provided examples of possible
situations for which the tool creates an outcome . He broke down how these
questions and answers are being created and noted the variety of outcomes.

Page 10 of 15



Next Steps for NRAC

Chair Ramchand said that they are bound by legislation, and although the tool is
administratively burdensome, it remains the best solution. He commended both
speakers and remarked on how impressive the tool was, thanking them for their
thorough presentations. He suggested that the legislation be recommended to
Secretary Collins. Mr. Wynne said presenting a reinterpretation to the new
administration was a good option. Dr. Schulteis added that he would be in support of
that decision.

Member Dr. Zink asked Mr. Wynne whether or not conversations about restructuring
were still happening with OGE. He replied that the meetings scheduled to discuss
the matter did not happen and still have not happened after the new administration
took office.

Chair Ramchand suggested a motion to vote to resurface the preexisting
recommendation to Secretary Collins. Member Dr. Zampieri said that he would
second that motion, emphasizing that this needed to be fixed. Member Dr. Haas also
said that she would second that motion and suggested that they revisit the language
in the old recommendation before doing so. She added that this was an impediment
to research and a barrier to future partnerships and funding for the VA. Dr. Schulteis
said that if he is allowed, he could share the draft waiver template that OGC has
approved. Dr. Huang requested that he and his team be notified of the direction this
takes.

Chair Ramchand said that a vote would be held via the video chat room to resubmit a
modified recommendation to the Secretary. Member Dr. Haas seconded. All members
voted yes.

VL. Subcommittee Presentation: Air Force

Health Study Warren Collection

Dr. Rudolph Johnson, Military Exposures Research Program (MERP), updated the
Council on the subcommittee's progress regarding the relocation of the Air Force
Health Study and Warren Collection from Wright-Patterson Air Force Base to West
LA VA. In 2023, stakeholders from the Vietham Veterans of America (VVA) and the
National Academies proposed the assets be transferred, and the proposal is being
followed. The subcommittee met in April 2025 and focused on shipping logistics,
biological repository accreditation, and frozen specimen integrity testing.

Dr. Johnson said that protection of the specimens during shipping is a priority. The
relocation of the study and collection is expected to be completed by August 2025.
Post-delivery testing will be performed to ensure specimen viability. The Air Force
and the VA are collaborating on the transfer and storage of data. The data is being
combed through and sorted as essential and potentially salvageable. Air Force
personnel will be assisting with the transfer, and the subcommittee will be overseeing
governance, accreditation and data curation.

Chair Ramchand commended the work being done for the relocation and asked
whether ORD has thought of any incentives for researchers to use the space once it

Page 11 of 15



is transferred to West LA VA. Dr. Johnson replied that there is funding and a Notice
of Special Intent associated with MERP with an additional update when the collection
is ready. Chair. Ramchand pointed out the timeliness of this Air Force and VA
collaboration, as it coincides with the conversations being had about the DOD-VA
collaboration.

Member Dr. Zampieri asked for clarification on how much is being used for funding.
Dr. Johnson said that the cost has gone down from the previously established $8
million to $900,000. He said this includes relocation, adding that they will end up
having extra freezers for further research. He expressed that there has been
stewardship of the government dollar to use it effectively.

VII. Public Comments

Ms. Garcia established the guidelines to be followed for the public comment portion
of the meeting. She reminded participants that they would have 5 minutes to address
the committee. She said that six written statements were received from the public
before the meeting and three submitters will address the council.

Mr. Anshel Bomberger, Veteran, expressed his concern for the lack of gender
affirming care within the VA health system. He spoke on his own experiences as
a Veteran trying to obtain care, expressing his own struggles and his fear for
future transgender Veterans. He urged the Council to do what they can regarding
legislation as transgender Veterans need a voice.

Ms. Rashi Romanoff, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), National Association of
Veterans’ Research & Education Foundations (NAVREF), emphasized the
importance of key research personnel exemptions from the federal hiring freeze,
leveraging the nonprofit infrastructure with partnerships for funding in higher
research areas, and incentivizing research to ensure the strength of VA's medical
research enterprise.

Ms. Theresa K. Howes, Veteran, emphasized the importance of maintaining and
sustaining VA research for the future and current care of Veterans. She spoke about
her experiences related to her military service and federal civil service. She praised
the robust research agenda, and added that the video on prostheses resonated with
her due to her struggles with multiple sclerosis. Ms. Howes stressed the need for trust
between researchers and Veterans. She highlighted the significance of the
collaborations being done and thanked NRAC for their support, and expressed her
gratitude as they have helped her navigate her health journey.

Ms. Garcia said that she would be reading the written comments that were received
prior to the meeting.

The first submitted comment was from Edward Escalante, and the message is
repeated here verbatim.

Page 12 of 15



Amanda, it is my understanding that the National Research Advisory Committee will
advise the VA Secretary on June 4 regarding policies and programs pertaining to
research at the VA. | have been honored to be a contributing Veteran to the VHA
Puget Sound, Seattle Veteran engagement group for a year. During that time, | have
clearly seen that the ongoing research at the VA is making important contributions to
the wellbeing of Veterans.

The effort that | am engaged with provides insight to researchers so that their work
can be better suited to the needs of Veterans. Input from Veterans like myself has
helped researchers to customize their programs for Veterans. The research itself has
very much impressed me in terms of its scope and specific targeting of Veterans
issues. Personally, | am an army Vietnam Veteran and former patient of the VA
Puget Sound. During my stay at the hospital, | had a chance to meet some of the
researchers personally and was much impressed with their effort to provide better
care for Veterans.

Something that | have become more aware of is the specific need to research health
needs for Veterans. An example is the various health complications associated with

Agent Orange. Researching Agent Orange complications is best done at the VA with
VA researchers and with input from Veterans, the VA would serve more Veterans by
investing in research and finding more ways for Veterans to provide input

Sincerely, Edward Escalante
End of Statement

Ms. Garcia then read the statement of Tom Whitaker, Institutional Animal Care and
Use Committee (IACUC), William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital, Madison,
Wisconsin. The message is repeated here verbatim.

| have been the “non-affiliated community member” of the IACUC at the William S.
Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital in Madison, Wisconsin for the last nine years.
In that role, | must review every new and updated animal research protocol to help
ensure animal safety and pain/stress management during the research activities. |
am writing in case any issues related to such research activities come up in the June
4, 2025 NRAC meeting.

The research being carried out at VA facilities has the direct potential to benefit the
lives of Veterans who suffer from a variety of ailments, such as Alzheimer's,
traumatic brain injury, obesity, diabetes, etc. Researchers in Madison are using small
animals (mostly mice and rats) to explore what interventions in pharmaceuticals may
help alleviate or at least stall the progression of such ailments. To that end, and |
would hope the Council would agree, these efforts are both essential and mandated
in order that we, as a Nation, can assist those citizens who have selflessly joined our
military in order to protect and preserve our Nation.

Page 13 of 15



Therefore, | implore the Council to give unwavering support to these research
activities everywhere, in recognition that scientific research is one of the key factors
that helped grow the United States into a world leader in so many ways, and
therefore it is critical that, as a Nation, we continue to broadly support such work.

End of Statement

Ms. Garcia then read the final public comment that was received from Dr. Amy L.
Reeder. The message is repeated here verbatim.

Dear NRAC and Secretary Collins,

| am writing in support of VA Research and the basic science that makes medicines
and procedures possible. VA Research and affiliated institutions support medical
advancements in subject areas relevant to Veterans. | have worked with
researchers, physicians, and students who benefited from the VA'’s inter-institutional
training opportunities and Veterans that directly benefit.

My professional experience is in cell, tissue, and embryo culture in animal models of
human conditions. In the last 20 years, lab-on-a-chip technologies and
advancements in culture techniques have facilitated precision biomedical studies
while reducing the number of animals needed in research. Yet, while in vitro
technologies build the promise of human-based research, animal models are
absolutely essential for applying cell or tissue-specific technologies to a whole
organism. Demonstrating real benefits to an animal model comes before gauging
applicability to humans.

Research animal welfare regulations and oversight requirements were crafted to
prevent human experimentation. Today, researchers recognize that animal use is a
privilege, and medical innovation is intertwined with animal welfare. Animal research is
needed in order to ethically innovate and advance medicine.

Thank you for your time and consideration of the importance of basic science and
developing human-based research goals.

Sincerely, Amy L. Reeder
End of Statement

Ms. Garcia closed the public comments for the meeting as there were no more
comments.

VIII. Adjournment

Chair Ramchand thanked Ms. Garcia, the public commenters, and those who sent in
written statements. Ms. Garcia let the NRAC members know that the next meeting is
scheduled for September and to be on the lookout for meeting time and dates. Chair

Page 14 of 15



Ramchand commended those present on an engaging and productive meeting,
thanking the staff who put it together. He commented on how the meeting was
productive in building a future agenda, and that they are looking forward to learning
more about the Health Services Subcommittee. He said that he will be sending a
memo to those concerned on the DOD collaboration, taking the public
considerations into account. He then reminded the council that they would be
voting on the revision and resetting of the 208 recommendations to Secretary
Collins.

A motion to adjourn was made, and the meeting closed at 3:16 p.m. Eastern Standard
Time.

Dr. Ramchand adjourned the meeting at 3:16 p.m. Eastern Standard Time.
Rajeev Ramchand, Ph.D.

Chairperson, NRAC

Date: 9/3/2025

Amanda Garcia
Designated Federal Officer

Page 15 of 15



